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The Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), enacted on November 6, 1986, requires

employers to verify the identity and employment eligibility of their employees and sets forth

criminal and civil sanctions for employment-related violations. Section 274A(b) of the

Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), codified in 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(b), requires employers to

verify the identity and employment eligibility of all individuals hired in the United States after

November 6, 1986. 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2 designates the Employment Eligibility Verification form

(Form I-9), as the vehicle for documenting this verification. For current employees, employers

are required to maintain for inspection original Form(s) I-9 on paper or as an on-screen version

generated by an electronic system that can produce legible and readable paper copies. For

former employees, the retention of Form(s) I-9 is required for a period of at least three years

from the first day of employment or one year from the date employment ends, whichever is

longer.



The administrative inspection process is initiated with the service of a Notice of Inspection

(NOI) upon an employer. Pursuant to 8 C.F.R § 274a.2(b)(2)(ii), employers receive at least three

business days to produce the Form(s) I-9 requested in the NOI. In addition, HSI generally

requests that the employer provide supporting documentation, which may include, but is not

limited to, a copy of the employer’s payroll, a list of active and terminated employees, articles

of incorporation, and business licenses.

When an employer responds to a NOI by producing Form(s) I-9, HSI agents and/or auditors

conduct an inspection of the Form(s) I-9 for compliance. When HSI finds technical or procedural

failures, the employer receives at least 10 business days to make corrections, pursuant to INA

§274A(b)(6)(B) (8 U.S.C. § 1324a(b)(6)(B)).

An employer may receive a monetary fine for all substantive violations and uncorrected

technical or procedural failures.

During the inspection process, HSI may inform the employer of its findings by issuing the

following notice(s):

: Advises the employer that, based on a review of the Form(s)

I-9 and documentation submitted by relevant employee(s), HSI has determined that the

documentation presented by employee(s) do not relate to the employee(s) or are otherwise

not valid for employment. This notice also advises the employer of the possible criminal

and civil penalties for continuing to employ unauthorized aliens. HSI provides the employer

and employee(s) an opportunity to provide documentation demonstrating valid U.S. work

authorization if they believe the finding is in error.

 Advises the employer that, based on a review of the Form(s) I-9 and

any related documentation submitted by employee(s), HSI has been unable to determine

the employees’ eligibility to work in the U.S. The employer should provide the employee(s)

with a copy of the notice, as well as an opportunity to present HSI with additional

documentation establishing valid U.S. employment eligibility.

: Identifies technical or procedural failures found

during the inspection of Form(s) I-9 and gives the employer at least ten business days to

correct the forms. After this correction period ends, uncorrected technical or procedural

failures become substantive violations.

Upon completion of the inspection process, HSI will issue written notification of its findings



through one of the following notices:

: Also known as a “Compliance Letter,” this notice is used to

notify a business that it is in compliance with applicable employee eligibility verification

requirements.

 Issued when substantive verification violations are identified, but there is

an expectation of future compliance by the employer. However, a Warning Notice should

not be issued in the following circumstances: (1) the employer was previously the subject of

a Warning Notice or a Notice of Intent to Fine; (2) the employer was notified of technical or

procedural failures and failed to correct them within the allotted 10-business day period; (3)

the employer failed to prepare or present substantive violations; or, (5) there is any

evidence of fraud in the completion of a Form I-9 (e.g., backdating) on the part of the

employer. Companies that are served a Warning Notice may be subject to a follow-up NOI at

a later date to ensure compliance.

: May be issued for substantive violations, uncorrected

technical or procedural failures, knowingly hire violations, and/or continuing to employ

violations.

Employers found to have knowingly hired or continued to employ unauthorized aliens under

INA § 274A(a)(1)(A) or (a)(2) (8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(A) or (a)(2)) 

. Failure to do so may result in civil fines and/or

criminally prosecution. Additionally, an employer found to have knowingly hired or continued

to employ unauthorized aliens may be subject to debarment by HSI pursuant to 48 C.F.R. §

9.406-2(b)(2).

The NIF will outline the grounds for the charge(s), specify the alleged violations committed by

the employer, and indicate the amount of the civil penalty fine to be imposed. Pursuant to 5

U.S.C. §§ 554-557, the employer is entitled to a hearing before an Administrative Law Judge

before the Office of the Chief Administrative Hearing Officer (OCAHO) within the Executive

Office for Immigration Review in the Department of Justice. This request must be made within

30 calendar days of receipt of the NIF.

If a written request for a hearing is  timely received, ICE will issue a Final Order. There is no

appeal from a Final Order. If a written request for a hearing is timely received, the employer

may request to engage in settlement negotiations with ICE regarding the charges or fine(s)



imposed prior to a hearing before OCAHO. If the employer and ICE reach an agreement, ICE will

not file a complaint with OCAHO. However, if the employer and ICE do not reach an agreement,

ICE will file a complaint with OCAHO to initiate administrative proceedings. Additional

information about OCAHO may be found at https://www.justice.gov/eoir/office-of-the-chief-

administrative-hearing-officer.

Each of the following is considered a substantive violation of Form I-9 requirements, including

but not limited to the examples provided below. Additional specific violations related to each

section of Form I-9 are outlined in the subsequent sections.

1. Failure to prepare the Form I-9.

2. Failure to present the Form I-9 for inspection upon request (8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(3)).

3. Failure to ensure the timely preparation of Section 1 of the Form I-9 and/or failure to timely

prepare Section 2 of the Form I-9 (and/or Supplement B of the Form I-9, if applicable).

4. Completion of a Spanish-language version of the Form I-9 outside of its authorized area.

The Spanish-language version of the Form I-9 can only be officially completed and retained

by employers and employees in Puerto Rico.

5. Failure to meet the standards for the electronic completion, retention, documentation,

security, reproduction, electronic signature(s) for the employee, and electronic signature(s)

for the employer, recruiter, or referrer for a fee, or representative, as set forth in 8 C.F.R. §

274a.2(e), (f), (g), (h), and (i).

For of the Form I-9, failure to:

a. Ensure that the employee completes his or her printed or typed legal name and date of

birth.

b. Ensure that the employee checks only one box attesting to whether the employee is a

citizen of the United States, a noncitizen national of the United States, a Lawful Permanent

Resident, or an alien authorized to work until a specified date.

c. Ensure that the employee completes the Alien Registration Number/U.S. Citizenship and

Immigration Services (USCIS) Number field next to the phrase “A lawful permanent resident

(Alien #).”

d. Ensure that the employee completes the Alien Registration Number/USCIS Number field or

the Form I-94 Admission Number field or, if applicable, the foreign passport number and



country of issuance and the employment authorization expiration date field required for

aliens authorized to work in the United States until a specified date (Alien # or Admission #).

e. Ensure that the employee signs the attestation portion of Section 1.

f. Ensure that the employee dates Section 1 of the Form I-9.

For of the Form I-9, failure to:

a. Verify a proper List A document or proper List B and List C documents within three business

days following the date of hire, by physically examining an original and acceptable List A

document or proper and acceptable List B and List C documents described in 8 C.F.R. §

274a.2(b)(l)(v)(A), and determining that the document appears to be genuine on its face and

reasonably related to the individual; or by physically examining original and acceptable

documentation, as described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(l)(v)(B)-(C), and determining that the

document appears to be genuine on its face and reasonably related to the individual.

b. Record the document title, issuing authority, document number(s), and/or expiration

date(s) (if any) of an acceptable List A document or original and acceptable List B and List C

documents described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(1)(v)(A)-(C).

c. Record the document title, issuing authority, document number(s), and/or expiration date

of the replacement document required to have been presented in accordance with 8 C.F.R.

§ 274a.2(b)(1)(vi)(A). Verify within the 90-day period described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(1)(vi)

(A)(3) the replacement document, in the case of a document receipt issued in connection

with an application to replace a lost, stolen, or damaged document, by physically

examining the replacement document or any other valid List A or combination of List B and

C documents presented by the employee in lieu of the replacement document. Determine

that the document appears to be genuine on its face and reasonably related to the

individual.

d. Mark the alternative procedure box in Section 2 if the employer used an alternative

procedure authorized by DHS to examine documents.

e. Be an active E-Verify participant or registered in a DHS Non-E-Verify Remote Document

Examination Form I-9 program when putting a check mark to notate that an alternative

procedure was authorized by DHS to examine documents;

f. Print the complete name and title of the employer or authorized representative.

g. Provide the date of hire in the attestation portion of Section 2 of the Form I-9.

h. Sign the Certification portion of Section 2.

i. Date the Certification portion of Section 2.

For of the Form I-9, Preparer and/or Translator Certification for Section 1, failure



to ensure that the preparer and/or translator’s complete name, address, signature, and date

are provided on the Form I-9 at the time of completion, when either a preparer and/or

translator was used to assist the employee in the completion of the form.

 

For of the Form I-9, Reverification and Rehire (or alternate applicable section or

supplement pertaining to a required reverification or rehire entry), failure to:

a. Date Supplement B of the Form I-9 not later than the date on which an employee’s

temporary employment authorization expires, verify the individual’s continued

employment eligibility by physically examining an original and acceptable document

described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(1)(v)(A) and determining that the document appears to be

genuine on its face and reasonably related to the individual; or by physically examining an

original document described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(1)(v)(C) and determining that the

document appears to be genuine on its face and reasonably related to the individual.

b. Provide the date of rehire in Supplement B, or in an alternate applicable section or

supplement pertaining to a required reverification or rehire entry, of the Form I-9.

c. Record the document title, document number(s), and/or expiration date(s) (if any) of an

acceptable document described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(l)(v)(A) or (C).

d. Record the document title, document number(s), and/or expiration date (if any) of the

replacement document required to have been presented in accordance with 8 C.F.R. §

274a.2(b)(l)(vi)(A), and verify within the 90-day period described in 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(l)(vi)

(A)(3) the replacement document in the case of a document receipt issued in connection

with an application to replace a lost, stolen, or damaged document, by physically

examining the replacement document or any other valid List A or List C document

presented by the employee in lieu of the replacement document and determining that the

document appears to be genuine on its face and reasonably related to the individual.

e. Print the complete name of the employer or authorized representative, sign and date the

“Reverification and Rehires” portion of Supplement B, or an alternate applicable section or

supplement pertaining to a required reverification or rehire entry, on or before the date the

employee’s previously presented temporary employment authorization expires.

f. Mark in the alternative procedure box in Supplement B if the employer used an alternative

procedure authorized by DHS to examine documents.

g. Be an active E-Verify participant or registered in a DHS Non-E-Verify Remote Document

Examination Form I-9 program when checking that it used an alternative procedure

authorized by DHS to examine documents.



 Technical Failures

1. Failure to use a version of the Form I-9 that is current at the time any part of the form is

initially completed.

2. Failure to ensure that an individual provides his or her other last names used (if any) or a

physical address in Section 1 of the Form I-9. A missing email address or phone number in

Section 1 will not constitute a violation.

3. Failure to, when enrolled and utilizing E-Verify for the employee, ensure that the employee’s

Social Security Number is correct.

 Technical Failures

1. Failure to record the employee’s complete name at the top of page 2.

2. Failure to provide the business name, or physical business address in Section 2 of the Form

I-9.

 Technical Failures

1. Failure to record the employee’s full name at the top of Supplement A.

 Technical Failures

1. Failure to record the employee’s full name at the top of Supplement B.

2. Failure to record the employee’s new name (if applicable) in the applicable section.



 

The Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015 (Inflation

Adjustment Act) adjusts the statutory minimum and maximum civil penalty fine amounts for

knowingly hire/continuing to employ violations and substantive violations/uncorrected

technical or procedural failures. These amounts are subject to annual adjustment. Please check



the current Federal Register for the most updated minimum and maximum civil penalty fine

amounts.

Since the passage of IRCA in 1986, federal civil monetary penalties have been increased

pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, as amended by the Debt Collection

Improvement Act of 1996. In addition, the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act

Improvements Act of 2015 (the 2015 Act) (Pub. L. No. 114-74, Sec. 701), which further amended

the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 (the Inflation Adjustment Act) (Pub.

L. No. 101-410, codified as amended at 28 U.S.C. § 2461 note) was enacted on November 2,

2015. On an annual basis, the 2015 Act requires agencies to adjust the level of civil monetary

penalties for inflation.

These adjustments are designed to account for inflation in the calculation of civil monetary

penalties and are determined by a non-discretionary, statutory formula. See

https://www.federalregister.gov/.

When you visit the federal register website, enter “adjust for inflation DHS civil monetary

penalties” into the search bar.

The date when ICE serves the NIF on the employer is the fine assessment date that determines

the civil penalty range that ICE administers.

To determine the base fine amount, the number of substantive violations/uncorrected

technical or procedural failures and knowingly hire/continue to employ violations will be

divided by the number of Forms I-9 that should have been presented for inspection. The

percentage from this calculation is the violation percentage that will determine the minimum

and maximum civil penalty base fine amount. This percentage may change depending on

whether the offense being evaluated is the employer’s first offense, second offense, or a third

or higher offense.  

Once the base fine amount is determined, the five statutory factors (size of the business, good

faith of the employer, seriousness of the violation(s), involvement of unauthorized alien(s), and

history of previous violation(s)) will be given consideration by ICE to determine the total civil

penalty fine amount for the substantive violations/uncorrected technical or procedural failures

the employer will be charged with. See 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(e)(5) and 8 C.F.R. § 274a.10 (please

check the current Federal Register for the most updated minimum and maximum civil penalty

fine amounts). 

The following matrix will be used to enhance, mitigate, or deem neutral the base fine amount.



Factor Aggravating Mitigating Neutral

Business size + 5% - 5% +/- 0%

Good faith + 5% - 5% +/- 0%

Seriousness + 5% - 5% +/- 0%

Unauthorized Aliens(s) + 5% - 5% +/- 0%

History + 5% - 5% +/- 0%

Cumulative Adjustment + 25% - 25% +/- 0%

INA § 274C, codified in 8 U.S.C. § 1324(c), authorizes HSI to initiate administrative proceedings

against persons or entities who violate Section 274C by knowingly committing, or attempting

to commit, document fraud to obtain a benefit under the INA. People or entities found in

violation of Section 274C may be issued a cease-and-desist order and assessed a civil monetary

penalty.

Administrative penalties under Section 274C begin when HSI issues a NIF. The NIF will outline

the grounds for the charge(s), specify the alleged violations, and state the amount of the civil

penalty to be imposed. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 554-557, the person or entity is entitled to a

hearing before an Administrative Law Judge before OCAHO within the Executive Office for

Immigration Review in the Department of Justice. This request must be made within 60

calendar days from the date the NIF is served. The NIF will inform the person or entity of their

right to be represented by counsel of their choice at their own expense, and that any

statements provided may be used against them.

If a written request for a hearing is  timely received, ICE will issue a Final Order. There is no

appeal from a Final Order. If a written request for a hearing is timely received, ICE will file a

complaint with OCAHO to initiate civil document fraud proceedings. Additional information

about OCAHO may be found at https://www.justice.gov/eoir/office-of-the-chief-administrative-

hearing-officer.



Unauthorized aliens who receive a Final Order or an order from OCAHO finding Section 274C

violations may be subject to removal from the United States and a permanent bar on reentry

into the United States.

It is unlawful for any person or entity knowingly—

1. to forge, counterfeit, alter, or falsely make any document for the purpose of satisfying a

requirement of this Act or to obtain a benefit under this Act,

2. to use, attempt to use, possess, obtain, accept, or receive or to provide any forged,

counterfeit, altered, or falsely made document in order to satisfy any requirement of this

Act or to obtain a benefit under this Act,

3. to use or attempt to use or to provide or attempt to provide any document lawfully issued

to or with respect to a person other than the possessor (including a deceased individual) for

the purpose of satisfying a requirement of this Act or obtaining a benefit under this Act,

4. to accept or receive or to provide any document lawfully issued to or with respect to a

person other than the possessor (including a deceased individual) for the purpose of

complying with §274A(b) or obtaining a benefit under this Act, or

5. to prepare, file, or assist another in preparing or filing, any application for benefits under

this Act, or any document required under this Act, or any document submitted in

connection with such application or document, with knowledge or in reckless disregard of

the fact that such application or document was falsely made or, in whole or in part, does

not relate to the person on whose behalf it was or is being submitted, or

6. (A) to present before boarding a common carrier for the purpose of coming to the United

States a document which relates to the alien's eligibility to enter the United States, and (B)

to fail to present such document to an immigration officer upon arrival at a United States

port of entry.

287(g)



Delegation of Immigration Authority Section 287(g) Immigration and Nationality Act
Allows a state and local law enforcement entity to enter into a partnership with ICE, under a
joint MOA to receive delegated authority.

Enforcement and Removal Operations

Case examples: ICE operations targeting criminal aliens
Data captured from July 13 to Aug. 20, 2020, shows that ICE officers arrested more than 2,000
at-large individuals living illegally in the U.S.

ICE Air Operations
IAO is ICE’s primary air transportation division.

Locating Individuals in Detention
ODLS allows family members, legal representatives, and members of the public to locate
individuals who are detained by ICE.

Using a Victim-Centered Approach with Alien Crime Victims
Q&A: Using a Victim-Centered Approach with Alien Crime Victims

Financial Crimes/Cornerstone

Operation Firewall
Targets the full array of methods used to smuggle bulk cash.

Human Smuggling & Trafficking Unit

"Operation In Plain Sight" - Targeting Arizona Smuggling Organizations



'Operation In Plain Sight', named as such because of the brazen nature of the transportation
companies' activities

Law Enforcement Officer Mission Support

Immigration and Customs Enforcement Pattern Analysis and Information Collection
System (ICEPIC)
ICEPIC helps to identify suspicious identities and discovers possible non-obvious relationships
among individuals and organizations.

National Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) Coordination Center

Homeland Security Investigations at Super Bowl LV
HSI personnel will be on the front lines of the interagency effort to mitigate the threat posed by
criminal organizations seeking to exploit and profit from criminal activity conducted in and
around the Super Bowl - from the identification and seizure of counterfeit goods to enhanced
efforts to counter human trafficking.

Intellectual Property Right Theft Enforcement Teams
IPTETs build on the investigative best practices identified by the IPR Center

National Intellectual Property Rights Coordination Center
The IPR Center stops predatory and unfair trade practices that threaten the global economy.

Operation Apothecary
Combats pharmaceutical smuggling

Operation Guardian
Combats the importation of substandard tainted, and counterfeit products that pose health
and safety risks to consumers

Operation In Our Sites



The IPR Center and its partner agencies aggressively pursue those who steal from American
businesses and workers.

Operation Pangea
Uses enforcement actions to raise awareness of the dangers posed by counterfeit medicines
and medical devices being sold on the Internet

Outreach & Training
IPR Center's Outreach & Training Unit engages in partnerships to combat IP theft through it's
Operation Joint Venture initiative

Tracing the Counterfeit Shoe Market
Despite international efforts to stop counterfeiting, a lack of consumer knowledge and the
increase of online shopping gives crooks more ways than ever to dupe unsuspecting individuals
out of jobs, profits and the health and safety of their families.

National Security

Counter-Proliferation Investigations
Notable ICE Counter-Proliferation Investigations Cases

Terrorism-Related Threats and ICE's Authority
Success Stories – ICE uses Immigration and Customs Authorities to Address National Security
threats.

Operation Predator

Operation Predator - Targeting child exploitation and sexual crimes
Each year, millions of children fall prey to sexual predators.

Smuggling - Arms, Contraband, Cultural Artifacts

Cultural Property, Art and Antiquities (CPAA) Investigations



ICE works with experts to authenticate items, determine their true ownership and return them
to their countries of origin.

In-Bond Merchandise Diversion Smuggling
In-bond smuggling occurs when someone knowingly avoids paying lawful customs charges or
duties on imported or exported merchandise.

World War II Cultural Property Cases
Stolen art, looted antiquities, fraudulently acquired artifacts – these are the little known
casualties of war.

Student Exchange and Visitor Program

F and M Student Record Termination Reasons in SEVIS
This job aid is a quick-reference for termination reasons noted in SEVIS.

Worksite Enforcement

Form I-9 Inspection Under Immigration and Nationality Act § 274A
The Immigration Reform and Control Act designates the I-9 form as the means of verifying
identity and employment eligibility.

Chief Financial Officer - Management and Budget

Budget - Fiscal Year 2005
Budget - Fiscal Year 2005

Budget - Fiscal Year 2006
Budget - Fiscal Year 2006
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Budget - Fiscal Year 2007
Budget - Fiscal Year 2007

Budget - Fiscal Year 2008
Budget - Fiscal Year 2008

Budget - Fiscal Year 2009
Budget - Fiscal Year 2009

Budget - Fiscal Year 2010
ICE's Fiscal Year 2010 budget figures in key categories

ICE Fiscal Year (FY) 2011 Enacted Budget
ICE Fiscal Year (FY) 2011 Enacted Budget

ICE Fiscal Year (FY) 2012 Enacted Budget
ICE Fiscal Year (FY) 2012 Enacted Budget

Office of Human Capital - Careers

Student Volunteer Program
The Student Volunteer Program offers unpaid, professional training opportunities to
undergraduate and graduate college students.
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